### **RESEARCH 8**



WILL CARP VIRUS BIOCONTROL BE EFFECTIVE?



NATIONAL CARP CONTROL PLAN

# Review of carp control via commercial exploitation



This suite of documents contains those listed below.

#### NCCP TECHNICAL PAPERS

- 1. Carp biocontrol background
- 2. Epidemiology and release strategies
- 3. Carp biocontrol and water quality
- 4. Carp virus species specificity
- 5. Potential socio-economic impacts of carp biocontrol
- 6. NCCP implementation
- 7. NCCP engagement report
- 8. NCCP Murray and Murrumbidgee case study
- 9. NCCP Lachlan case study

#### NCCP RESEARCH (peer reviewed)

Will carp virus biocontrol be effective?

- 1. 2016-153: Preparing for Cyprinid herpesvirus 3: A carp biomass estimate for eastern Australia
- 2. 2018-120: Population dynamics and carp biomass estimates for Australia
- 3. 2017-148: Exploring genetic biocontrol options that could work synergistically with the carp virus
- 4. 2016-170: Development of hydrological, ecological and epidemiological modelling
- 5. 2017-135: Essential studies on Cyprinid herpesvirus 3 (CyHV-3) prior to release of the virus in Australian waters
- 6. 2020-104: Evaluating the role of direct fish-to-fish contact on horizontal transmission of koi herpesvirus
- 7. 2019-163 Understanding the genetics and genomics of carp strains and susceptibility to CyHV-3
- 8. 2017-094: Review of carp control via commercial exploitation

What are the carp virus biocontrol risks and how can they be managed?

- 9. 2017-055 and 2017-056: Water-quality risk assessment of carp biocontrol for Australian waterways
- 10. 2016-183: Cyprinid herpesvirus 3 and its relevance to humans
- 11. 2017-127: Defining best practice for viral susceptibility testing of non-target species to Cyprinid herpesvirus 3
- 12. 2019-176: Determination of the susceptibility of Silver Perch, Murray Cod and Rainbow Trout to infection with CyHV-3
- 13. 2016-152 and 2018-189: The socio-economic impact assessment and stakeholder engagement
  - Appendix 1: Getting the National Carp Control Plan right: Ensuring the plan addresses

community and stakeholder needs, interests and concerns

- Appendix 2: Findings of community attitude surveys
- Appendix 3: Socio-economic impact assessment commercial carp fishers
- Appendix 4: Socio-economic impact assessment tourism sector
- Appendix 5: Stakeholder interviews

Appendix 6: Socio-economic impact assessment – native fish breeders and growers

- Appendix 7: Socio-economic impact assessment recreational fishing sector
- Appendix 8: Socio-economic impact assessment koi hobbyists and businesses
- Appendix 9: Engaging with the NCCP: Summary of a stakeholder workshop
- 14. 2017-237: Risks, costs and water industry response

 2017-054: Social, economic and ecological risk assessment for use of Cyprinid herpesvirus 3 (CyHV-3) for carp biocontrol in Australia
 Volume 1: Review of the literature, outbreak scenarios, exposure pathways and case studies
 Volume 2: Assessment of risks to Matters of National Environmental Significance
 Volume 3: Assessment of social risks

- 16. 2016-158: Development of strategies to optimise release and clean-up strategies
- 17. 2016-180: Assessment of options for utilisation of virus-infected carp
- 18. 2017-104: The likely medium- to long-term ecological outcomes of major carp population reductions
- 19. 2016-132: Expected benefits and costs associated with carp control in the Murray-Darling Basin

#### NCCP PLANNING INVESTIGATIONS

- 1. 2018-112: Carp questionnaire survey and community mapping tool
- 2. 2018-190: Biosecurity strategy for the koi (Cyprinus carpio) industry
- 3. 2017-222: Engineering options for the NCCP
- 4. NCCP Lachlan case study (in house) (refer to Technical Paper 9)
- 5. 2018-209: Various NCCP operations case studies for the Murray and Murrumbidgee river systems (refer to Technical Paper 8)



## The role of commercial fishing in control of invasive freshwater fish species

Common carp, can we fish them out through overfishing?

**Paul Brown** 

Chris Wisniewski

and Dean Gilligan

2019

FRDC Project No [2017-094]

© 2019 Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. All rights reserved.

The role of commercial fishing in control of invasive freshwater fish species: Common carp, can we fish them out through overfishing?

Project No. 2017-094

Year Published: 2019

#### **Ownership of Intellectual property rights**

Unless otherwise noted, copyright (and any other intellectual property rights, if any) in this publication is owned by the Fisheries Research and Development Corporation.

This publication (and any information sourced from it) should be attributed to: **Brown, P., School of Life Sciences, La Trobe University, Victoria; Wisniewski, C., Inland Fisheries Service, Tasmania; Gilligan, D., NSW Department of Primary Industries 2019**, *The role of commercial fishing in control of invasive freshwater fish species: Common carp, can we fish them out through overfishing?*, Mildura, July 2019. CC BY 3.0]

#### **Creative Commons licence**

All material in this publication is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Australia Licence, save for content supplied by third parties, logos and the Commonwealth Coat of Arms.



Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Australia Licence is a standard form licence agreement that allows you to copy, distribute, transmit and adapt this publication provided you attribute the work. A summary of the licence terms is available from <a href="https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au/">https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au/</a>. The full licence terms are available from <a href="https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au/">https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au/</a>. The full licence terms are available from <a href="https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au/">https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au/</a>. The full licence terms are available from <a href="https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/3.0/au/legalcode">https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au/</a>.

Inquiries regarding the licence and any use of this document should be sent to: frdc@frdc.com.au

#### Disclaimer

The authors do not warrant that the information in this document is free from errors or omissions. The authors do not accept any form of liability, be it contractual, tortious, or otherwise, for the contents of this document or for any consequences arising from its use or any reliance placed upon it. The information, opinions and advice contained in this document may not relate, or be relevant, to a readers particular circumstances. Opinions expressed by the authors are the individual opinions expressed by those persons and are not necessarily those of the publisher, research provider or the FRDC.

The Fisheries Research and Development Corporation plans, invests in and manages fisheries research and development throughout Australia. It is a statutory authority within the portfolio of the federal Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry, jointly funded by the Australian Government and the fishing industry.

Researche	er Contact Details	FRDC Con	FRDC Contact Details			
Name:	Paul Brown	Address:	25 Geils Court			
Address:	20 Payne Street		Deakin ACT 2600			
	Portarlington, VIC 3223	Phone:	02 6285 0400			
Phone:	0427249037	Fax:	02 6285 0499			
Email:	paul@fisheriesandwetlands.com.au	Email:	frdc@frdc.com.au			
		Web:	www.frdc.com.au			

In submitting this report, the researcher has agreed to FRDC publishing this material in its edited form.

iii

### Contents

Contentsiv	r
Acknowledgmentsvi	i
Executive Summary	i
Introduction 1	
Objectives	;
Method4	ļ
Literature review and case studies	;
Results7	,
Are Common carp in Australia likely to be overfished? A productivity-susceptibility analysis Case studies	7 3 5
Discussion	
The biology of susceptibility       21         Incentivising community driven solutions       22         Incentivising for success       23	23
Conclusion	j
Implications	)
Recommendations	,
Extension and Adoption	;
Project coverage	3
"Opinion: Carp control in Australia. Can't we just catch them and eat them all?	;
Appendix 1: List of researchers and affiliations	)
Appendix 2: Data tables for Figures 1-3	
Appendix 3: References	;
FRDC FINAL REPORT CHECKLIST	

#### Tables

Table 1. Objectives of the project – as agreed in the contract
Table 2. Literature search criteria used to identify published sources to review the role of commercial or subsidised harvest in control of Common carp.       5
Table 3. Case studies: Examples of successes and failures using removal of Common Carp, with key success criteria driving outcomes
Table 4. Case studies: Examples of successes and failures using removal of other invasive vertebrate pests, with key success criteria driving outcomes
Table 5. Population viability, biomass reduction and fishing yield in a simple, closed carp population parameterised as in Brown & Gilligan (2014) where the Zone 3 population shows strong compensatory recruitment ( $\alpha$ =34.7, $\beta$ =0.0191)
Table 6. Population viability, biomass reduction and fishing yield in a simple, closed carp population parameterised as in Brown & Gilligan (2014) where the Zone 3 population shows weaker compensatory recruitment ( $\alpha$ =4.1, $\beta$ =0.0162)
Table 7. Population viability, biomass reduction and fishing yield in a spatially complex metapopulation of six zones, with the carp population parameterised as in Brown & Gilligan (2014) with uniform fishing mortality (F) applied to each zone plus effect of refuge from fishing

#### **Figures**

### Acknowledgments

The project 'Review of Carp control via commercial exploitation' is supported by funding from the FRDC on behalf of the Australian Government. The authors thank two anonymous referees whose comments improved the quality of the final publication and Mr Keith Bell (Commercial Carp fisher) and the National Carp Control Program's Matt Barwick, Jennifer Marshall and Tom Rayner for support and helpful discussions throughout the project.

### **Executive Summary**

Researchers from La Trobe University's Centre for Freshwater Ecosystems, Tasmania's Inland Fisheries Service and the New South Wales Department of Primary Industry-Fisheries collaborated in 2018-2019 to review case studies of invasive fish management using commercial fishing and assess the prospects for overfishing Australian populations of Common carp; identifying factors critical to success.

The objectives of the study were to:

- Review literature on removal of vertebrate pests through commercial exploitation (with emphasis on pest-fish)
- Use CarpSim software to explore the limits of critical factors identified in the literature review, with respect to the control of Carp in Australia through commercial exploitation
- Summarise findings of review (1) and modelling (2) in lay persons terms, in a magazine article, to answer questions such as "Can we just fish them all out with commercial fishing?"
- Prepare and submit a research article based on review (1) and modelling (2) for publication in a peer-reviewed, open-access, scientific journal

Using an existing population model, they simulated commercial fishing methods exploring the limits for successful biomass-reduction or eradication. Common carp are an important invasive pest fish in many countries worldwide. Development of a National Carp Control Plan in Australia means there is a need to evaluate the role commercial harvest can play for control on a continental scale, in an enduring way.

A productivity-susceptibility analysis suggested that Common carp are unlikely to be overfished accidentally or deliberately. Review of published invasive fish control projects using commercial fishing revealed no examples of large-scale, lasting success. Rarely, when in combination with other management methods, commercial fishing has achieved short-term reductions in biomass. Common carp population-simulation models indicated that to achieve eradication, fishing mortality rates (F) were required far exceeding those estimated for existing Australian populations. Temporal refuge or spatial complexity required further increases in F to achieve population eradication. In meta-populations containing an area protected from fishing, eradication was not achieved, and biomass reduction was less effective.

Key aspects of Common carp biological productivity include recruitment- and growth-compensation. Pervasive inhabitation of spatially complex floodplain-wetland and river systems including refuges from fishing reduces the susceptibility of most Australian populations.

Population modelling and the examination of many case studies worldwide does not support the use of commercial fishing as an enduring control at a large scale.

While the researchers conclude that Common carp populations have a strong resistance to eradication, or even to significant long-term biomass reduction, using commercial fishing methods; they point to lessons learned from other invasive-species commercial removal schemes. If management of Common carp proceeds using commercial exploitation, contracts should use significant, staged bonus payment on reaching biologically meaningful harvest-targets and contracted pricing that increases above staged thresholds to achieve harvest-targets. Bonus payments should preferably be on a sliding, reducing scale that encourage increased effort as abundance declines.

Case studies suggest that the use of commercial harvesting to achieve biomass reduction targets is certainly more useful in small, closed populations where juvenile recruitment can also be controlled (e.g. through harvesting) or eliminated. In more open or structurally-complex populations, there are perhaps circumstances where intense harvesting of carp may make sense within an integrated control-plan which also includes biological-control measures; particularly, where there is a high-risk of rapid mortality from biological-control measures causing acute water-quality, or aesthetic air-quality issues. However, the effect of such pre-emptive commercial biomass-reduction on the subsequent transmission rates for virus

vectored biological control should be thoroughly investigated before an integrated control program is considered.

#### Keywords

Common carp, *Cyprinus carpio*, simulation model, CarpSim, Australia, commercial fishing, invasive, overfishing, population management

### Introduction

Common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) are the third most introduced fish species in the World (GISD 2017) and a widespread and important invasive species in North America, southern Africa and Australasia (Koehn et al. 2000; Winker et al. 2011). The annual economic and environmental impact of Common carp in Australia was quantified in 2004 as \$16 Million (McLeod 2004). The benthic feeding behaviour of adults causes declines in water quality, degraded water-plant communities and negatively affected invertebrates and vertebrates including amphibians and waterfowl (Bajer et al. 2009; Vilizzi et al. 2015).

Questions about harvesting invasive fish species as a control-option are not new; they have been asked before about many species (Downey 2017; Hoag 2014; Kuebbing et al. 2013; Nuñez et al. 2012; Petty 2016; Snyder 2017). Worldwide, when faced with problems from invasive fish species the community often suggests commercial fishing as a solution to removing the problem. Modern history is littered with examples of overexploitation leading to the decline of fish stocks (Pauly et al. 2002; Post et al. 2002). Most of these have been 'accidental' over fishing when the actual goal was sustainable fishing. It is understandable why the community should think: "If we can accidentally overfish valued fish stocks while trying to fish sustainably; it should be easy to deliberately overfish a pest-fish stock".

Following more than two decades of concerted research and management efforts to control Common carp (Anon 2000; Roberts & Tilzey 1996), in 2016 the Australian Government funded a National Carp Control Plan (NCCP, <u>www.carp.gov.au</u>) to determine how Common carp can be controlled on a continental scale, in a lasting way. An NCCP goal is "...a smart, safe, effective and integrated suite of measures to control carp impacts"; recognizing that eradication is probably impossible given the geographic distribution and population size of carp in Australia. The present review addresses a question identified during the community consultation phase of that plan. "Can we fish them out through overfishing?"

In valued fish populations, overfishing is often due to lack of precautionary management, or poor management decisions based on incorrect assumptions about the size of the stock, the biology of the stock, or the amount of fishing-effort (e.g. how many fishers) (Haddon 2001; Hilborn & Walters 1992). There are three largely accepted forms of overfishing for valued fisheries; growth-overfishing, recruitment-overfishing and ecosystem overfishing (Pauly 1983). Growth-overfishing is when too many individual fish are harvested at a size smaller than the optimum size to provide the overall largest sustainable yield (Silberschneider et al. 2009). Recruitment-overfishing occurs if too many mature adults are harvested to provide enough offspring to subsequently replace the harvest and so recruitment declines proportionally with spawner abundance (Allen et al. 2013). Ecosystem overfishing occurs when intense fishing of large predators causes a trophic cascade leading to altered ecosystem states (Daskalov et al. 2007). Perhaps the first two types of overfishing are more directly relevant to commercial capture of carp. The third type-ecosystem overfishing, may be less relevant for carp in ecosystems with few naturally occurring large-fish predators, such as Australia. Although, the restoration of abundant piscivorous predators is commonly used to assist in suppressing carp populations following bio-manipulation, in USA and at high densities, predators have been shown to exert control over carp recruitment (Bajer & Sorensen 2010; Paukert et al. 2003).

Firstly, we reviewed the research literature on Common carp population biology in invasive populations and looked for case studies of invasive fish management using commercial fishing. We consider to what extent invasive carp populations in Australia match the characteristics of populations likely to be overfished and we identify factors within the case studies critical for success

and failure. Lastly, using an existing modelling framework for Carp population and control dynamics, we construct simulations of commercial fishing methods to explore the limits for success (Brown & Gilligan 2014; Brown & Walker 2004).

### Objectives

No.	Detail
1	Review literature on removal of vertebrate pests through commercial exploitation (with emphasis on pest-fish)
2	Use CarpSim software to explore the limits of critical factors identified in the literature review, with respect to the control of Carp in Australia through commercial exploitation
3	Summarise findings of review (1) and modelling (2) in lay persons terms, in a magazine article, to answer questions such as "Can we just fish them all out with commercial fishing?"
4	Prepare and submit a research article based on review (1) and modelling (2) for publication in a peer-reviewed, open-access, scientific journal

Table 1. Objectives of the project – as agreed in the contract

### Method

Three types of active control target were described as relevant for Common carp by Bomford and Tilzey (1996). Eradication-the complete removal of the population, they suggest has six stringent requirements: Removal rate exceeds population growth at all densities, zero immigration, all individuals must be vulnerable, population monitoring should be possible at all densities, cost benefit analysis favours eradication over control and there should be a supportive socio-political environment.

Strategic control–either one-off, sustained or targeted removal is more common where some of these requirements for eradication may not be met. Here the objective is often to reduce Common carp biomass below a critical habitat-damaging density. Requirements of zero immigration and common vulnerability are often those most-obviously relaxed in many strategic control scenarios. A third type of control, crisis management (Bomford & Tilzey 1996), can perhaps be considered an extension of strategic control, and examples include where 'pulsed commercial fishing' is used to reduce carp biomass below some tolerable limit. These requirements form the initial framework for our success-criteria analysis of the literature.

#### Literature review and case studies

The scope of case studies for the review includes all incentivised physical harvest (Pasko et al. 2014) of pest-fish. This includes physical removal operations where the operators are agency staff as well as purely 'commercial' contract operators. Some non-fish examples will also be included where the authors consider it beneficial to do so. Many published studies of invasive fish management report the short-term effects (<5 years) and as our NCCP context has long-term goals, where possible we have sought clarification from authors asking whether results were subsequently sustained. Responses are included as personal comments where follow-up publications were not evident (i.e., in most cases).

Search strings constructed by combining subject-terms with action-terms listed in Table 2, were used in two standard search-engines to identify relevant published studies; ISI Web of Science (https://www.webofknowledge.com/), and Google Scholar (<u>https://scholar.google.com.au/</u>).

From the thousands of resulting articles, titles and abstracts were scanned for relevance and further detail was read, if required, to establish whether each publication was within scope and significant. Database searches yielded 85 papers and reports considered significant. Along with useful secondary literature, cited in the initial list, and reverse literature searches from key papers, this list was expanded to 114 sources to review, with 100 references finally being cited in Appendix 3.

In reviewing the literature, we particularly considered pest fish and with emphasis on invasive carp control programs, although not exclusively so. Pasko et al (2014), defined harvest incentives as contract operations, commercial markets, bounty programs or recreational harvest. The distinction being that contractors are paid directly as service providers and commercial operators sell the catch into a market on removing or harvesting the target invasive species. In practice, these distinctions are often blurred by a variety of contractual instruments. Carp management programs contract a commercial operator to provide a certain amount of fishing-effort (e.g. no. of days, or seine-hauls, etc.) and allow sale of harvest. Some programs simply licence an operator to fish the targeted region or waterway and sell the target species on the open market.

 Table 2. Literature search criteria used to identify published sources to review the role of commercial or subsidised harvest in control of Common carp.

Subject	Actions
Common carp, <i>Cyprinus carpio</i> , European carp	Fishing, commercial fishing, recreational fishing/angling
Invasive species, pest fish, introduced species	Subsidised, bounty, incentive, reward
Vertebrate pests, invasive crayfish	Trapping, netting, electrofishing, electro- fishing, electric fishing
Specifically (Asian carp, lionfish, arapaima/paiche, tilapia)	Removal, capture, catch, market, cull
	Over harvest, overexploitation

Subjects and actions were combined in all possible combinations of 'subject' AND 'action'.

#### Simulation modelling strategy

The success-criteria identified relating to population dynamics were used to explore sensitivity to successful control using an established carp population model, CarpSim v2.1 (Brown & Gilligan 2014; after Brown & Walker 2004). Sensitivities of model outputs to the identified success-criteria were explored in two carp population modelling scenarios. The base model descriptions are found in Brown & Gilligan (2014) and simulate the Common carp population found in the Lachlan River subcatchment of the Murray-Darling River system in south eastern Australia. The base model simulates changes in biomass by age-specific density dependant growth and simulates changes in population ad size-dependant mortality within multiple connected population units. The starting population parameters were estimated for the Lachlan River population and other Australian carp stocks. Natural mortality (M) varies by fish-size throughout the simulations; but for the starting parameters in all simulations M=0.8 for a fish of 200 mm TL.

Simulation of a single, simple, closed population was first used to explore; the required level and duration of harvest, the effect of compensatory recruitment typical of carp populations and the effect of only harvesting adults rather than most age-classes on population viability.

A second simulation of a relatively complex set of connected sub-populations each with different characteristics was used to explore the effect on population viability of spatial complexity and spatial refuge from fishing.

Model 1 is based on the starting parameters for the population simulation in the lower catchment noted as 'zone 4' (Brown & Gilligan 2014), but in this case is modelled as a simple-closed population.

Model 2 is based upon the full simulation of 'zones 1–6' (Brown & Gilligan 2014), a collection of sub-populations connected by fish migration among zones to be a more complex meta-population.

#### Exploring the required level of harvest

During the simulations, success is defined as eradication, although biomass reduction is also reported, as the percentage of unfished biomass removed, when eradication didn't occur.

Yield (kg/ha) is reported annually and in total for the first five years illustrate the scale of initial commercial harvest achievable at each fishing mortality. In a single zone, treated here as a closed population (no emigration, no immigration), commercial fishing was started 33-years after initial carp introduction, when the population had stabilised. Fishing was simulated at multiple F-values, including the base-level (F=0.03), which matches actual efforts and yield reported in (Brown & Gilligan 2014) for Zone-3, a zone where commercial fishing has been practised. Natural mortality for a 200 mm TL fish is 27-times higher than this base level of fishing mortality. Fishing was further simulated at a hypothetical fishing mortality level 10-times higher than base-level; and then at a range of increased hypothetical F-values from the minimum F-value that caused total eradication of carp within the model-run period (167 remaining modelled years). Where simulations result in eradication, the time-to-eradication (population viability) was reported for both 10% (PV0.1) and 100% (PV1.0) of trials. Where simulations resulted in sustained yield but no eradication, we report the approximate biomass reduction.

#### Exploring the effect of compensatory recruitment

Brown and Gilligan (2014), observed that abundance of carp recruits per spawner and the strength of the density-dependence of that relationship, varied among the zones simulated in the Lachlan catchment. To investigate the sensitivity of population viability to the capacity for recruit-production, to vary according to population density – these fishing simulations were first completed with strong and then with weak-capacity for compensatory recruitment. This was achieved by using parameters for stock-recruitment curves of varying steepness that were fitted to carp abundances observed within zones in the Lachlan catchment (Brown & Gilligan 2014).

#### Exploring the effect of temporal refuge from fishing

The size at which individual carp become vulnerable to fishing in a simulated population has previously been shown to affect control outcomes (Brown & Walker 2004). Initial simulations (Model 1) were completed using reasonably broad selection where 95% of carp were vulnerable by the end of their first year and all fish potentially can encounter the gear. We explored the sensitivity of population viability to reduced selectivity by repeating a Model 1 scenario under conditions where vulnerability to fishing is delayed until maturity as would be the case where spawning aggregations are targeted.

#### Exploring the effect of spatial complexity and meta-population structure

First we simulated the six spatially separated sub-population zones as specified in (Brown & Gilligan 2014), with zero-fishing as a base-model. Multiplying the biomass density attained in each zone by the habitat area for that zone provides an estimated total meta-population biomass. Then to each zone we applied the minimum F-value (F=1.2) that resulted in eradication during all Model 1 simulations (above) and the maximum F-value (F=2.0) used in simulations of the simple closed population. The effect of a spatial refuge from fishing was simulated by reducing F to zero in one zone where F=2.0 in all other zones.

### Results

#### Are Common carp in Australia likely to be overfished? A productivitysusceptibility analysis.

Productivity Susceptibility Analysis shows that Common carp score moderate-high on productivity metrics and low-moderate on susceptibility metrics-meaning that they are unlikely or hard to overfish.

Characteristics of fish populations useful to highlight the likelihood of overfishing include the combination of biological productivity and the susceptibility of the population to fishing; i.e., productivity-susceptibility analysis, or PSA (Hobday et al. 2011; Lapointe et al. 2013; Patrick et al. 2010). Fish populations that score low on measures of productivity and high on measures of susceptibility are more at risk of overfishing and therefore may be more vulnerable to deliberate over-exploitation in a pest-fish control context.

Invasive populations of Common carp score moderate—high on productivity metrics (Patrick et al. 2010). They reach a large maximum-size, show rapid growth rates, low natural mortality rates, high fecundity, a frequently successful recruitment pattern, maturity at a young age and occupy a relatively low trophic level (Brown et al. 2005; Khan 2003; Parkos et al. 2003; Phelps et al. 2008; Sivakumaran et al. 2003; Vilizzi & Walker 1999; Winker et al. 2011).

Walker (2005), defined susceptibility of a fish stock to overfishing as the product of availability  $\times$  encounterability  $\times$  selectivity. Patrick et al (2010), proposed similar concepts working on U.S. marine fish stocks such that risk of overfishing is heightened by; areal and vertical overlap of the fishery with the fish stock, geographic concentration from seasonal migration or behavioural responses to fishing, and morphological characteristics affecting capture. Additionally, they proposed additional attributes useful to define the susceptibility of fish stocks to overfishing such as; a high value of the fishery, a fishing rate higher than the natural mortality rate and the appropriateness of the management strategy.

Invasive populations of Common carp score low-moderate on susceptibility metrics for existing and historic Australian carp fisheries (Graham et al. 2005; Patrick et al. 2010). Targeted commercial carp fishing largely focusses on a small part of the geographic range of the pest (Forsyth et al. 2013; Graham et al. 2005). This low areal overlap between the distribution of the stock (e.g. most freshwaters in SE Australia,) and the distribution of the main commercial fishery (e.g. Gippsland Lakes, Lake Alexandrina and Lake Albert, (Kailola et al. 1993)) is one reason why the commercial fishery in its present form cannot overfish the population (Patrick et al. 2010). Common carp are also broadly distributed across their range throughout much of each year. Fishing strong aggregations in patches of habitat such as during spawning is another characteristic that could increase the chances of overfishing (Bajer et al. 2011; Johnsen & Hasler 1977; Lechelt & Bajer 2016); but the large populations in south-eastern Australia have many such aggregations that show annual variability; which makes them less reliable as a regional resource (Crook et al. 2013).

Seasonal lateral movements of spawners to and from preferred wetland spawning habitat (Conallin et al. 2012; Jones & Stuart 2009); and flow-related longitudinal movements through fishways (Stuart et al. 2006; Thwaites et al. 2010), may offer opportunities for increasing susceptibility to fishing through heightened availability and/or 'encounterability'. Selective trap designs are available to sort Common carp from Australian native fish (Stuart & Conallin 2009; Thwaites et al. 2010). Common carp morphology and behaviours also make them highly susceptible to electrofishing (Bajer & Sorensen 2012); gill-nets– because of their barbed dorsal and anal fin-spines (Graham et al. 2005) and seine-nets when schooling in open lakes (Kailola et al. 1993).

The value of invasive Common carp fisheries is relatively low (FRDC 2017). Low-value fisheries have reduced risk of overfishing (Patrick et al. 2010). Catch and value statistics are no-longer published for the few remaining commercial Carp fishers due to client-confidentiality policies (Savage 2015). However, a recent feasibility study for a commercial carp fishery in a sub-catchment of the Murray-Darling River system used price estimates of \$0.70–\$1.20 kg<sup>-1</sup> for whole fish and 'fertiliser' into the domestic market; and exports of carp and carp roe between \$2.90 and \$7.00. These estimates were provided by commercial fishers, and based on an annual catch of 300 tonnes, in 2011 (GHD 2011). An estimate of the size of the existing Australian domestic market for whole fish is approximately 50–100 tonnes annually at \$1.50–\$3.00 kg<sup>-1</sup> (Keith Bell, K & C Fisheries Global Pty Ltd. Pers. Com.)

For, invasive carp populations in Australia, as a risk factor for overfishing, fishing mortality (F) has not been estimated across most of the geographic range. However, in one area that was subjected to significant commercial harvest, the Barmah-Millewa Forest, Brown et al (2005) estimated using a combination of age-frequency analysis and empirical methods that F-values ranged from 0.05 to 0.3 and that in most cases, F was unlikely to exceed the natural mortality rate (M).

The type of management strategy for the fishery is clearly an important context; what is perhaps less clear is whether PSA can inform the likelihood of *deliberate* overfishing as a preferred outcome for invasive Common carp management. This combination of moderate–high productivity albeit with moderate–high susceptibility certainly suggests that invasive Common carp populations are unlikely to be 'accidentally' overfished. From this we can probably infer that deliberate overfishing may be difficult. While PSA can perhaps guide how susceptibility should be maximised in a Carp management program; no management strategy can affect the underlying productive nature of invasive Common carp populations, which is a root-cause of difficulties in using commercial fishing techniques to effectively control the population.

#### **Case studies**

A review of fish control projects in the U.S. in 1996 examined 250 control projects including 70 that used physical removal and reservoir drawdowns to control unwanted fish species. Unwanted species included Common carp along with a list of 30 other 'non-game fish' species and also stunted populations of 15 species of 'panfish.' Meronek et al. (1996), defined success variously and broadly, although reduction in standing stock was the most common determinant. Most projects studied were relatively short-term in nature and the authors concluded that success was achieved if there was evidence of improvement over periods exceeding 1-year. Of these 70, between 33% and 57% achieved success with 'commercial gear' such as seines, nets, traps or electrofishing.

Eleven representative case studies were identified in the literature and summarised in (Table 3) and Table 4). These include five representative management projects utilizing commercial removal methods for Common carp (Table 3); one at a catchment scale and four in closed, large-lake populations. Table 4, also includes some insightful invasive vertebrate removal-management projects, targeting animals other than Common carp. While the theoretical study of these Common carp management practices yields information about the circumstances in which they might be used for population-control (Bajer et al. 2011; Brown & Gilligan 2014; Lechelt & Bajer 2016; Mattingly & Kevern 1979; Simpson et al. 2017; Weber et al. 2011; Weber et al. 2016); in practice we could find no published examples of large-scale, lasting success.

Recent examination of Common carp population trends in 1300 km of the Upper Mississippi River, USA, revealed by a two standardised, long-term (i.e., 30 & 60 years) monitoring programs, concluded that there was no evidence to support the role of management activities aimed at eradication or severe reductions (Gibson-Reinemer et al. 2017). These activities included large commercial fisheries which harvested between 1.5 to 3.1 Million kg of carp per year between 1900 and 1981 (Lubinski et al. 1986). In the Lachlan River catchment, in Australia's Murray–Darling Basin, an ambitious plan to develop an integrated set of removal methods for Common carp control including commercial fishing,

did not succeed (Gilligan et al. 2010). The feasibility study developed for the commercial harvest of Common carp in that catchment predicted that the annual commercial harvest rate of 300 tonnes that was the threshold for commercial viability, represents only ~5% of likely carrying capacity (GHD 2011). A simulation study, of all the existing and planned management activities within that catchment concluded that in combination, the proposed removal methods (e.g. commercial fishing and trapping) would only reduce biomass by 48–52% over a 70-year period (Brown & Gilligan 2014).

On a smaller scale, two projects in Iowa, USA, are perhaps representative of a typical lake management practice across the USA (Table 3). In the USA, in contrast to Australia, commercial fisheries for Common Carp (and other freshwater species) are well-established and commonly used to assist the management of more valued fish and wildlife species (Lubinski et al. 1986; Meronek et al. 1996). Commercial fishing at Clear Lake had varied success in achieving the required harvest-targets and the biomass-target was not achieved. At Lost Island Lake, innovative bonus schemes promoted success through incentivising adequate fishing effort and timely action from the commercial fishers (Table 3).

Another innovative bonus incentive was employed in the successful control of Nutria (*Myocastor coypus*), an invasive aquatic mammal in the U.K (Table 4). To overcome the natural reluctance of trappers to work themselves out of a job, contracted trappers were rewarded for increasing their effort as the population declined (Gosling & Baker 1989). Trappers were provided with substantial salary bonuses (of up to three times their annual salary), if eradication was achieved within six-years. After six years the bonus value declined until it was capped at ten-years. Eradication was achieved after nine years.

The varied success reported in the Tasmanian examples (Table 3), reflects the differing ability to control recruitment in two similar lakes. In Lake Crescent, where water levels were able to be managed to limit spawning habitat—the intensive, integrated program of commercial-scale fishing effort has led to eradication of Common carp. Sporadic spawning success in the neighbouring Lake Sorell has left cohorts of recruits that have delayed, and may yet prevent, eradication (Table 3).

Target	Method	Management objective	Removal Outcome	Reference	Population open or closed	Success-criteria
Common carp, Upper Mississippi River, USA	Commercial harvest (various methods)	Initially none, or fishery development – later control	Unsuccessful	(Gibson-Reinemer et al. 2017; Lubinski et al. 1986)	Open	Massive commercial fishery harvesting between 1.5 and 3.1 Million kg annually before 1980s. Recent decline in population but no evidence to support the role of harvesting in that decline. Chemical contamination, market forces and biological factors thought to lead to decline in fishery from 1970s. Recent fishery-independent monitoring data suggests recruitment also became sporadic around the same era and suggest cause is disease related.
Common carp Clear Lake, Iowa, USA	Pulsed Commercial harvest (with harvest targets), minimisation of recruitment (marsh restoration)	Control, to biomass target 100kg ha <sup>-1</sup>	Unsuccessful	(Colvin et al. 2012)	Closed	The current common carp removals on Clear Lake have not been large enough to make population level changes to the fishery. In most seasons the commercial angler removes between 50,000 lbs - 125,000 lbs which is likely only 10%-20% of the population. No recent population estimates but authors speculate that the carp populations have risen slightly since the original work.(Pers. Comm. M. Hawkins, District Fisheries Biologist IDNR, 2017).
Common carp, Lakes Herman, Madison and	Trap nets and multi- panel mesh nets.	Control (Hypotheses investigated effect of exploitation	Unsuccessful	(Weber et al. 2016)	Closed	Survival rates of common carp were reduced through exploitation rates of up to 43%, however population abundance, recruitment and

#### Table 3. Case studies: Examples of successes and failures using removal of Common Carp, with key success criteria driving outcomes

Brant South Dakota, USA		on growth, recruitment, survival and abundance)				growth remained stable due to compensatory processes.
Common carp Lost Island Lake, Iowa, USA	Contract operation using commercial fisher + stocking predators + habitat management	Control, to biomass target 112 kg Ha <sup>-1</sup>	Successful	Mike Hawkins, Iowa DNR, pers. Comm.	Closed	Commercial fishing-effort and harvest targets with cash bonuses for achieving targets on time have succeeded in reaching a target biomass-threshold for habitat damage (112 kg/Ha) (Mike Hawkins, Iowa DNR, pers. Comm.) The contract for a commercial fisher in 2010 stipulated a minimum of 15 seine hauls or a harvest target of 90 tonnes and a price of USD\$0.33/kg for each kilogram harvested over 90 tonnes. In addition, USD\$8000 and USD\$12,000 bonuses were offered for reaching 136 tonnes and 181 tonnes, respectively. Consequently, a harvest of 196 tonnes of carp was achieved in 2010. Stock-enhancement of predatory game fish and habitat management has minimised subsequent recruitment and to 2016, annual surveys of Carp population abundance confirmed the maintained trend for low carp density.
Common carp, Lachlan River catchment, Australia	Contract operation + commercial fishing	Control to biomass target 75- 90% reduction	Unsuccessful	(Brown & Gilligan 2014; GHD 2011; Gilligan et al. 2010)	Open (closed on a catchment –scale)	Removal rate less than rate of population growth Target to reduce population biomass by 75–90% (i.e., below ecologically damaging biomass thresholds) unlikely to be achieved using removal methods such as trapping and commercial fishing (Brown & Gilligan 2014; Gilligan et al. 2010). Predicted annual commercial harvest rate of 300 tonnes represents only ~5% of likely carrying capacity (GHD 2011). Commercial fishing/trapping has been

						sporadic since 2010 (M. Asmus, NSW DPI, Pers. Comm.)
Common carp, Lake Crescent, Tasmania, Australia	Contract operation (multiple methods) and trapping	Eradication	Successful	(Diggle et al. 2004; Donkers et al. 2012; Wisniewski 2009)	Closed	Contained by fine-mesh screens upstream and downstream– a closed system. Managed water-levels maintain spawning prevention. Optimising fishing with a range of integrated techniques (e.g., Judas carp, gear selectivity known etc,) Population estimation through mark-recapture. Cost efficiency (vs Cost of failure) high. Maintaining socio/political support.
Common carp, Lake Sorell, Tasmania, Australia	Contract operation (multiple methods) and trapping	Eradication	Unsuccessful to date, but ongoing	(Inland Fisheries Service 2016)	Closed	Factors similar to those for Lake Crescent except for incomplete spawning-prevention, recruitment events have occurred sporadically (last major one in 2009) and offer significant. setbacks

Target	Method	Management objective	Removal Outcome	Reference	Population open or closed	Success criteria
Nutria, (aquatic mammal), UK	Contract operation	Eradication	Successful	(Pasko et al. 2014)	Open	Limited geographic spread. Good understanding of population ecology Population and control simulations estimated effort and duration required. Bonus scheme rewards increasing effort as population declines (bounty + salary bonus for timely eradication
Feral cat, <i>Felis</i> <i>catus,</i> (mammal), Macquarie Island.	Contracted trapping/shooting	Eradication	Successful	(Bergstrom et al. 2009; Parks and Wildlife Service 2014)	Closed	Island population. Removal rate exceeded reproduction rate Small population (~2000 cats killed in 15 years).
Asiatic topmouth gudgeon, <i>Pseudorasbora</i> <i>parva</i> , (freshwater fish) UK	Contract operation + follow-up piscicide treatments	Control	Successful	(Britton et al. 2010)	Closed	Method effective against all life-stages and deployed at vulnerable stages in life-cycle. Biomanipulation using mass removal with seine nets. Regular cropping of adults prior to spawning) and juveniles (young-of- year). Small ponds only. Reduced population density by >99% over 2-years. Follow-up treatment with piscicide later eradicated this population following revaluation of objectives. (Dr Rob Britton, Bournemouth University, Pers. Comm.)

Table 4. Case studies: Examples of successes and failures using removal of other invasive vertebrate pests, with key success criteria driving outcomes

Peacock hind (Roi), <i>Cephalopholis</i> <i>argus</i> , (marine fish), Hawaii, USA	Contract operation & Recreational fishing, Community-event fish downs	Control	Scale- dependant success: successful population control at patch-reef scale.	(Giddens et al. 2014; The Nature Conservancy 2016)	Open	Feasibility of active removal of >90% population by spearfishers (freedivers followed by SCUBA) is proven on open populations on patch reefs (1-2 Ha). Slow recruitment and re-colonisation rates enable low densities to be maintained by ongoing removal efforts Costs estimated at USD \$400-\$1400 per hectare
Indo-pacific Lionfish ( <i>Pterois</i> <i>volitans/miles</i> complex), (Marine fish) Carribean and Atlantic coast USA	Community-event fish downs, Contract operations	Control	Success variable: Scale- dependant. Successful population control at patch-reef scale.	(Green et al. 2014; Hare & Whitfield 2003; Hoag 2014)	Open	Culling by divers on patch reefs was effective in reducing population densities below ecologically damaging thresholds over 18-months Suppression of population density achieved until a stochastic weather event (Hurricane Irene)
	Experimental removal (simulating Contract operations)		Unsuccessful at patch reef scale following hurricane Irene.	(Smith et al. 2017)	Open	Following hurricane, densities greater on culled-reefs than controls

Rainbow	Contract	Control	Unsuccessful	(Gaeta et al. 2015)	Closed	Fished adult spawners for 9-years
smelt,	operation		population			attempting recruitment-overfishing.
<i>Osmerus</i> <i>mordax,</i> (Freshwater			control			Also increased predation of target species by stock-enhancement and restricted
Fish), Wisconsin,						biocontrol.
						Strong compensatory recruitment dynamics occurred at low spawning stock densities. Unpredictable spawning behaviour made success of recruitment- overfishing variable

Based on results of Success Criteria Analysis from case studies in the literature it appears that the following criteria are important in driving success:

- 1. Achieving a high enough exploitation rate through appropriate levels and duration of effort (Productivity)
- 2. Commercial viability or the budget available for subsidy and its use in managing declining cost-benefit near completion (Susceptibility)
- 3. Accessibility/vulnerability of the whole population and absence of temporal and spatial refuge from fishing (Susceptibility)
- 4. Spatial complexity/connectivity and temporal variability in abundance (Susceptibility)
- 5. Population traits (e.g. recruitment compensation)(Productivity)

Four out of five success criteria are examined further below using simulation modelling. The commercial viability and subsidy-budget question is beyond the scope of this simulation analysis. Although, it is seems clear from some of the case studies, that innovative commercial contracts can help incentivise commercial fishers to increase fishing effort as abundance declines. Financial bonuses on reaching clear harvest targets; or on a sliding scale that decrease over-time have clearly helped some invasive animal control programs achieve success (Mike Hawkins, Iowa DNR, pers. Comm.; Pasko et al. 2014).

#### Model simulation results

### Model 1: Simple closed population. The required fishing mortality for eradication and sensitivity to recruitment compensation.

## A closed carp-population was parameterised with relatively strong compensatory recruitment. A ten-fold increase in the existing estimate of fishing mortality produced a 5-year yield of 337 tonnes and was able to reduce the population biomass by 49% yet did not result in eradication (

Figure 1). At increasing F-values at least 40-fold higher than estimated existing levels of fishing mortality (F=1.2), reducing yields indicate signs of overfishing starting to occur which did result in eradication during the model run period (200 years). However, eradication would take approximately 20-years at sustained hypothetical F-values over 66-fold higher than estimated existing levels of fishing-mortality.

### If the same closed carp-population is parametrised with relatively weak compensatory recruitment, the effects of commercial harvest are stronger (

Figure 2). A ten-fold increase from base level fishing mortality now produced a lower 5-year yield of 217 tonnes and an 82% reduction in population biomass. Eradication was possible within the modelled period with a lower F-value (F=0.5) and within approximately 20 years using an F-value equivalent to 40-fold higher than the base value, and approximately 10 years with an F-value 60-fold higher than base levels.

#### Temporal refuge from fishing

Delaying vulnerability to fishing until size-at-maturity, even for the carp population with weak compensatory recruitment, substantially reduced the useful-impact of fishing. The stock could no longer be eradicated with F-values greater than 40-fold higher than estimated existing levels of fishing mortality (F=1.2) although the biomass was reduced by 92%.

#### Model 2: Complex connected metapopulation.

#### Sensitivity to spatial complexity and refuge from fishing

The base-model of six, connected sub-populations with zero fishing effort in any zone simulated a metapopulation that plateaued at a biomass of approximately 7500 tonnes of carp across a total habitat area of 26,666 Ha. However, in 100 trials of Model 2, applying fish effort across the whole meta-population at an F-value which was sufficient to eradicate a simple-closed population (F=1.2), no-longer resulted in eradication (

Figure 3). The more complex stock-structure is much less sensitive to fishing. After 167 years of fishing in every zone, at the rate that resulted in eradication in our previous simple, closed-population, the remaining biomass in the final model-year (year 200) was between  $3 \times 10^{-8}$  kg ha<sup>-1</sup> and 0.66 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> across zones 1–6 and represented a final average removal of 99% of the biomass. The uniform application of the maximum F-value (F=2.0) to all zones, did result in eradication in at least 10% of trials (PV0.1) after 27 and 100% of trials (PV1.0) after 28 years. However, when a partial spatial refuge from fishing was introduced (in this example, in zone 6) eradication was no longer achieved and biomass-reduction declined to 72%.



Figure 1 Fishing yield (left), population viability and biomass reduction (right) in a simple, closed carp population parameterised as in Brown & Gilligan (2014) where the Zone 3 population shows strong compensatory recruitment (α=34.7, β=0.0191).

Outputs from Model 1 of a 1331 ha habitat in the Lachlan River catchment (n= 100 trials). Population viability (right) is reported as years of fishing until eradication for at least 10% (PV0.1) and 100% (PV1.0) of trials. Biomass reduction is the % of unfished biomass removed. Simulated mean fishing yield for the first five fished years (left). Results for a range of F values including F=0.03 representing estimated historic management efforts, F=0.3 a ten-fold increase in fishing mortality and example values of F≥1.2 that led to eradication within the simulation. (See appendix 2. Table 5 for data table).



Figure 2. Fishing yield (left), population viability and biomass reduction (right) in a simple, closed carp population parameterised as in Brown & Gilligan (2014) where the Zone 3 population shows weaker compensatory recruitment ( $\alpha$ =4.1,  $\beta$ =0.0162).

Outputs from Model 1 of a 1331 ha habitat in the Lachlan River catchment (n= 100 trials). Population viability (right) is reported as years of fishing until eradication for at least 10% (PV0.1) and 100% (PV1.0) of trials. Biomass reduction is the % of unfished biomass removed. Simulated mean fishing yield (left) is for the first five fished years. Results for a range of F values including F=0.03 representing estimated historic management efforts, F=0.3 a ten-fold increase in fishing mortality and F $\ge$ 0.5 that led to eradication within the simulation. (See appendix 2. Table 6 for data table).



Figure 3. Fishing yield (left), population viability and biomass reduction (right) in a spatially complex metapopulation of six zones, with the carp population parameterised as in Brown & Gilligan (2014) with uniform fishing mortality (F) applied to each zone and showing the effect of refuge. Outputs from Model 2 of a total of 26,666 ha of habitat in the Lachlan River catchment (n= 100 trials). Population viability is reported as years of fishing until eradication for at least 10% (PV0.1) and 100% (PV1.0) of trials. Biomass reduction is the % of unfished biomass removed. Simulated mean fishing yield (kg ha-1) for the first five fished years. Results in upper panels for F values, F=1.2 and F=2.0 representing minimum and maximum value trialled at which eradication achieved for model 1 (

Figure 1 and

Figure 2) and in lower panels F=2.0+refuge with a single zone (e.g. zone 6), where F=0. (See appendix 2. Table 7 for data table).

### Discussion

#### The biology of susceptibility

Productivity-susceptibility analysis shows that Common carp score moderate-high on productivity metrics and low-moderate on susceptibility metrics-meaning that they are unlikely or hard to overfish. Bomford and Tilzey's (1996) first criteria for judging if eradication of a vertebrate pest is possible, is that the removal rate should exceed the rate of population growth at all population densities. This can also be extended to be useful criteria to judge whether strategic control measures are likely to succeed. Patrick et al. (2010), suggested that a risk-factor for susceptibility to overfishing is when fishing mortality (F) exceeds natural mortality (M). Colvin et al (2012) use the ecotrophic coefficient (EC), defined as the ratio of biomass harvested to biomass produced over an annual period, as a metric to develop harvest targets for pest fish. Their simulation analysis of a 70-year data set of commercial carp data from Clear Lake (1500 Ha) in Iowa, suggests that an EC > 0.76 is required to result in declining biomass; that is an average harvest each year of >76% of the biomass produced that year through growth and recruitment. Recent discussions with the authors suggest that despite the harvest-targets, subsequent commercial carp harvests have been insufficient to make population level changes. "In most seasons the commercial fisher removes 22-57 tonnes which is likely to be only 10-20% of the population, equating to an EC of 0.4-0.95. Additional management options have since also included biomanipulation (carp removal in 2000, 2012 and planned again in 2017) and restoration of wetting and drying regimes and promotion of watering regimes that are conducive to winter-kill in a large adjacent marsh (Ventura Marsh - 160 Ha), thought to be the primary source for carp recruitment. The Clear Lake carp population appears to have remained relatively stable during this period and the current carp removals on Clear Lake have not been large enough to make population level changes to the fishery" (Mike Hawkins, Scott Grummer & Mike Colvin, Iowa DNR, Pers. Comm.). At the nearby Lost Island Lake, management has been more successful with low densities of Common carp achieved during 2010-2016. Again, commercial fishing was used to initially reduce the Common carp biomass; but here, the use of an innovative contract arrangement with cash-bonuses for achieving harvest-targets by set-dates, provided the incentive for continued removal of biomass in a declining population. Following initial biomass reduction the stockenhancement of predatory game fish and habitat management has commenced and so-far, subsequent recruitment is minimal (Mike Hawkins, Iowa DNR, Pers. Comm. 2018)

Factors in pest populations that make these removal-rate criteria hard to satisfy are that removal rates typically decline at low population densities (Thresher 1997; Weber et al. 2011); and density dependant growth, fecundity, and juvenile survival rates all often increase as the population density declines (Lorenzen 1996; Sehgal & Toor 1995; Weber & Brown 2013). Commercial fishing, or removing pest-fish by any method from well-established populations, is likely to bring the population density below its 'carrying capacity' for the available habitat. For another invasive fish species, Pumpkinseed (*Lepomis gibbosus*) in France; where fishing removed large individuals, medium-sized individuals proliferated through improved survival, so that total population abundance didn't change as fishing pressure increased (Evangelista et al. 2015). Similarly, the experimental removal of smallmouth bass (*Micropterus dolomieu*), from a Canadian lake over seven years reduced the overall biomass of bass, but changed the demographics of the bass population by increasing the abundance of juveniles (Weidel et al. 2007; Zipkin et al. 2008). The authors concluded that continuing deliberate overexploitation of adult smallmouth bass was required to prevent the population exceeding the pre-removal density.

This overcompensation is more likely in fish populations with high fecundity and early maturation (Zipkin et al. 2009) and both factors are applicable to most Australian Common carp (Sivakumaran et al. 2003). Carp have shown compensatory or density-dependent characteristics in India and the USA (Sehgal & Toor 1995; Weber & Brown 2013; Weber et al. 2016). Under fishing pressure the populations respond through individuals growing faster due to less competition for food (Weber &

Brown 2013). Juvenile survival rates increase through outgrowing their predators quicker and staying in peak physiological condition (Lorenzen 1996). Populations with abundant, fast growing carp will mature and reproduce at a younger mean age and so population reproductive-rate can increase (Sehgal & Toor 1995). Large mature females in peak physical condition produce more eggs per kilogram of female with bigger eggs (Sivakumaran et al. 2003), that hatch bigger larvae, which in-turn promotes survival (Weber & Brown 2012).

Most, mainland invasive populations of Carp in Australia have been established long enough to be considered in equilibrium with the carrying capacity of their habitat. Such populations are likely to respond to harvest by growth- and recruitment-compensation resulting in relative abundance of juveniles higher than pre-removal densities. Populations less likely to do so, or to show weaker growth- and recruitment compensation may be those where fecundity and/or recruitment is low, where maturation is delayed or where densities are well below carrying capacity for the habitat, e.g., new populations. In the cooler climate of Tasmania's highland lakes growth is slower (Donkers 2004; Vilizzi & Walker 1998), maturation later and fecundity lower (Donkers 2004), than most Australian mainland stocks (Brown et al. 2005; Sivakumaran et al. 2003); making density-dependant growth-and recruitment-compensation less likely. In the Tasmanian case (Diggle et al. 2004; Wisniewski 2009), all of the criteria identified as essential for eradication success are present or highly likely to be present (Bomford & Tilzey 1996). For example, the benefits of eradicating carp from Lakes Sorell and Crescent are likely to outweigh the cost of likely colonisation of the rest of Tasmania's freshwater systems if the target was one of population control. Further north, on mainland Australia, growth- and recruitment-compensation is much more likely due to higher growth rates (Brown et al. 2005; Vilizzi 1998), earlier maturation and higher fecundity (Brown et al. 2005; Sivakumaran et al. 2003) in warmer climate zones. As our model scenarios show, this potential for growth- and recruitmentcompensation makes Australian carp stocks resistant to control through deliberate overfishing.

Simulations in a simple closed population show that commercial fishing can only achieve eradication if fishing mortality is increased to 40–70 times the F-values that are likely to represent actual recent fishing-efforts and approximately 1.5–2.5 times the natural mortality value (for a 200 mm TL fish). The recruitment-compensation levels representative of Australian mainland carp stocks and spatial-complexity typical of the population, increases resistance to eradication prolonging the duration of effort required to eradicate a population. Offering a size-refuge by targeting only larger individuals or a spatial-refuge by not fishing in all areas made eradication impossible and reduced the overall biomass-reduction that could be achieved.

In spatially complex populations, the movement of individuals between zones acts as a buffer against the effects of exploitation. As any given stock nears eradication, some of the individuals can 'escape' through random movement to neighbouring zones. Due to differences in habitat areas modelled exploitation-pressure is different among zones at our modelled uniform-F. In spatially complex populations, it should be possible to have a range of extremely high F-values, differing across zones, which would result in eventual eradication; however, this model scenario illustrates that these are likely to be even higher on average than that required to eradicate a simple, closed population.

#### Incentivising community driven solutions

Indo-pacific Lionfish (*Pterois volitans/miles* complex), were first observed to have invaded the western Atlantic in 1995. In 2003, the initial integrated assessment of the introduction of Lionfish (*Pterois volitans/miles* complex) to the Western Atlantic seaboard of the USA stated that "Removing lionfish from the southeast United States continental shelf ecosystem would be expensive and likely impossible" (Hare & Whitfield 2003). After considering a bounty system to encourage the removal of fish unviable, the authors considered Lionfish populations as too well established over too wide a distribution and were essentially advocating a "do-nothing" policy in terms of population control. More recently, researchers and local communities have compiled evidence that Lionfish population

control is achievable at a local scale (Hoag 2014), with regular targeted culling from spearfishing competitions reducing densities to below thresholds causing ecological damage, and leading to recovery in reef fish communities (Green et al. 2014). Strategic, ongoing control of Lionfish may offer hope for management of reefs in high conservation-value, marine protected areas. An updated integrated assessment (Morris Jr & Whitfield 2009), also supports the development of harvest pressure through promoting human consumption of lionfish. For many, "success" to date has been the removal of lots of lionfish and development of awareness in the community (Chapman et al. 2016), but as with many emerging invasive fish control programs, a long-term solution for true, population-scale control, has yet to be realised.

The Peacock hind (Roi), *Cephalopholis argus*, is a marine reef fish introduced to Hawaii in 1956 from Mo'orea and now regarded as an undesirable invasive species due to its predation on small endemic reef fish species and the tendency for it to become toxic due to the build-up of Ciguatoxin in its tissues (Randall 1987). Recently, active control by removal methods has again been driven by community groups, often with little incentive other than good-will. The feasibility of active removal of >90% population by spearfishers is proven on open populations on patch reefs (1-2 Ha) (Giddens et al. 2014). For Roi, slow recruitment and re-colonisation rates has enable low densities to be maintained by ongoing removal efforts at a patch-reef scale. Costs estimates range from USD \$400–\$1400 per hectare (The Nature Conservancy 2016).

For invasive Common carp populations, vulnerability to community based fishing solutions seems limited. Large numbers of Common carp are often removed in fishing competitions (Atchison et al. 2017) as such events are purposely targeted at areas with high carp abundance. Evaluation against population size has shown this not to be effective in reducing population size significantly (<2%) (Norris et al. 2013) despite the incentives of prizes offered. In two years, recreational anglers fishing on the 1500 km of the Murray River and its Victorian tributaries were estimated to have caught and removed almost 60 tonnes of Common carp, mainly as by-catch when targeting native species (Brown 2010). This figure is probably indicative of 'background' fishing mortality across the more accessible reaches of the Murray–Darling Basin and as such has been ineffective at reducing Common carp populations.

#### Incentivising for success

Consideration of market forces can be important in attempts to manage pest fish populations through overexploitation. Pasko et al (2014), reviewed the role of harvest incentives and tabulated "favourable" and "unfavourable" characteristics to establish an effective harvest incentive program for an invasive species. Invasive carp populations arguably satisfy 3 out of 13 of characteristics favourable for effective harvest incentive programs; they are easily identified; a low risk to human health or safety in the handling, use or consumption of Carp; and, at least in Australia, there is strong public support for control of Carp. However, Carp also satisfy 7 (also out of 13) characteristics unfavourable for effective harvest incentive programs; they disperse long distances and have a wide geographical range; they are cryptic (or, "hidden from view"); they live in isolated, remote environments (e.g.,across almost the entire Murray-Darling Basin in Australia); changes in their population density cannot be (*sic*, easily) estimated; it is likely that support for the program would diminishes as Carp density and impacts decrease; it is hard to prevent wilful introduction or re-introduction as Carp are robust and easily transported; and demand for the target species is low or limited.

Pasko et al. (2014) also recommended that successful incentivised harvest management plans for invasive fish should understand and consider the capital costs of setting up trapping and harvesting infrastructure and the hidden cost of administering a commercial or recreational harvest. Such plans should develop an understanding of what proportion of the biomass must be removed annually to achieve the control objectives (Brown & Gilligan 2014; Weber et al. 2011); and of the consequences

of under-harvesting this annual quota (Gaeta et al. 2015). The harvest program should be monitored for counter-productive behaviours and unintended outcomes, such as commercial breeding the pest-fish in captivity, intentionally introducing the fish into new areas or deliberate under-harvest to protect the resource sustainability. This also includes preventing deliberate or accidental reintroductions into the management area that will thwart exploitation-based control efforts. They also recommend using harvest-incentive schemes as part of an integrated program. Incentivised harvest may be efficient initially when populations densities are high; and strong incentives could again be useful in circumstances where the last few individuals need to be removed (e.g. Lost Island Lake, Table 3).

### Conclusion

The biology, ecology, geographical distribution and habitat preferences of invasive Common carp populations suggest that the species has a strong resistance to eradication, or even to significant long-term biomass reduction, using commercial fishing methods. Critical aspects of their biological productivity that affect the likelihood of commercial fishing as control include; recruitment-compensation and growth-compensation; their moderate susceptibility in open populations due to pervasive habitation of spatially complex floodplain-wetland and river systems that generally include refuges from fishing.

### Implications

By definition, pest-fish are often super-abundant leading to low prices in a natural marketplace by the law of supply-and-demand. Low prices mean that markets must process high volumes to be cost-effective, requiring a high product-demand for volume to be sustainable. Our simulations of the level of harvest required in a single area to achieve successful control reveal harvest quantities that would 'swamp' the existing Australian domestic and export markets. In Australia, exports of Common carp products between 1998 and 2003 are estimated to have been over 500 tonnes (Keith Bell, Commercial fisher. Pers. Comm) however, this fell due to drought and European import restrictions between 2004 and 2016, to approximately 50 tonnes of Carp products with a value of \$206,000 and worth on average \$4 kg<sup>-1</sup>. Import data shows that during 2012–2016, approximately 6000 tonnes of Carp products worth \$28 Million were imported into Australia (FRDC 2017), perhaps indicating the potential existence of a larger domestic market for specialised, value-added product than has been exploited to date. Realising this tantalising potential may be a key to generating the required product-demand.

### Recommendations

While we conclude that Common carp populations have a strong resistance to eradication, or even to significant long-term biomass reduction, using commercial fishing methods; there are lessons to be learned from other invasive-species commercial removal schemes. Under a fixed-price or open market-price scenario the incentive for commercial operators declines as efficiency declines in low density populations. In a management program, as invasive species densities become low the cost-of-removal per unit increases. Examples of successful, innovative incentive schemes worth mimicking, if management of Common carp proceeds using commercial exploitation, include contracts using significant, staged bonus payment on reaching biologically meaningful harvest-targets and contracted pricing that increases above staged thresholds to achieve harvest-targets. Bonus payments would preferably be on a sliding, reducing-scale of that encourage increased effort as abundance declines (Barnes et al. 2014; Gherardi & Angiolini 2009; Pasko et al. 2014).

Case studies suggest that the use of commercial harvesting to achieve biomass reduction targets is certainly more useful in small, closed populations where juvenile recruitment can also be controlled (e.g. through harvesting) (Carl, Weber & Brown, 2016), or eliminated (e.g. through screening, or water management) (Diggle et al. 2004). In more open or structurally-complex populations, there are perhaps circumstances where intense harvesting of carp may make sense within an integrated controlplan which includes biological-control measures (Brown & Gilligan 2014); particularly, where there is a high-risk of rapid mortality from biological-control measures causing acute water-quality, or aesthetic air-quality issues (Lighten & van Oosterhout 2017). Before this is considered, the effect of such pre-emptive commercial biomass-reduction on the subsequent transmission rates for virus vectored biological control should be thoroughly investigated (McColl et al. 2017).

### **Extension and Adoption**

A research article based on the review and modelling was submitted to the journal *Biological Invasions* (submitted 19-Sep 2018; rejected 15-Dec 2018) (Note: The Principal Investigator ceased employment with La Trobe University 21-Dec 2018).

A magazine style article was also drafted based on the projects key findings and approved by NCCP management for submission to "The Weekly Times" once the final report was approved and sufficient Industry consultation has ensued (see below).

#### **Project coverage**

Proposed article for The Weekly Times:

# "Opinion: Carp control in Australia. Can't we just catch them and eat them all?

Associate Professor Paul Brown, School of Life Sciences, La Trobe University, Mildura

Chris Wisniewski, Inland Fisheries Service, Tasmania

Dr Dean Gilligan, NSW Department of Primary Industries, Fisheries, Batemans Bay

The Common Carp is a pest fish that has invaded southern Australia's waterways. Often present in high numbers, carp reduce water quality and have an impact on water plants, insects, frogs and birds. They are one reason our rivers and lakes are not as healthy as they should be, and it's estimated they cost our economy millions of dollars each year.

So, why can't we just fish them out? This is a question commonly asked around the world about invasive fish species and has been asked frequently since the Australian Government announced the National Carp Control Plan, spending \$15 million to date. The Plan, its funding and its controversial solution of introducing a carp-killing virus to our waterways have the community talking about the role of the commercial fishing industry.

In response to this question, I've been working with my colleagues from New South Wales Department of Primary Industries and Tasmania's Inland Fisheries Service to study the effectiveness of using commercial harvesting to control invasive animals. We wanted to know if it was possible to overfish carp deliberately. To do this we compared what we know about carp biology with the biology of fish where stocks are known to be at risk of overfishing. We focussed on studies and reviewed cases where invasive fish species are managed by commercial fishing around the world. We identified what features were important for the success or failure in each case.

We then used the latest computer models of carp populations to explore these features. The computer simulated carp and commercial fishing activity typical of a known river catchment. We tested the limits for successful control under increasing levels of commercial fishing.

The modelling showed that unless commercial fishing removed many carp of all sizes (even young ones) it struggled to even reduce the population effectively. The amount of carp that had to be fished from one Murray–Darling River sub-catchment (more than 1400 tonnes over the first 5-years of fishing), would overwhelm the existing domestic and export markets. In addition, if some carp were unavailable for commercial fishing–say in inaccessible areas, they acted as a reserve to repopulate the fished areas. Under these conditions, population eradication became impossible and population reduction was ineffective.

Important characteristics of carp include their ability to breed prolifically, survive in a broad range of habitats, have a wide distribution and adaptable biology. These features mean that Australia would need a permanent and much larger commercial carp industry to maintain population control in a lasting way. The existing, commercial carp fishery would need massive, ongoing investment to scale-up to remove enough carp. This 'army' of commercial fishers would need to fish hard in all areas–forever, to control carp in Australia. A commercial fishing industry this size would create a range of other environmental challenges through bycatch of native fish species and other animals. If a role exists for commercial harvesting within the National Carp Control Plan it is likely to be limited to isolated waterways, where survival of young carp is low or controllable and immigration preventable. Population modelling and the examination of many case studies worldwide does not support the use of commercial fishing as an enduring control at a large scale.

Sadly, the answer is no. We can't just catch them all.

**Acknowledgement**: The authors would like to thank The Fisheries Research and Development Corporation for funding the review and modelling research informing this article."

### **Appendix 1: List of researchers and affiliations**

<u>Principal Investigator</u> - Paul Brown – Centre for Freshwater Ecosystems, School of Life Sciences, La Trobe University, 471 Benetook Avenue, Mildura, Victoria 3500. (Present address: Fisheries and Wetlands Consulting, 20 Payne Street, Portarlington, Victoria 3223)

<u>Co-investigator</u> - Chris Wisniewski – Inland Fisheries Service, 17 Back River Road, New Norfolk, Tasmania 7140

<u>Co-investigator</u> – Dr. Dean Gilligan – NSW Department of Primary Industries, Fisheries, Batemans Bay Fisheries Office, Suite 8, Braysyth Building, Cnr Beach Rd & Orient St PO Box 17, Batemans Bay NSW 2536

### **Appendix 2: Data tables for Figures 1-3**

Table 5. Population viability, biomass reduction and fishing yield in a simple, closed carp population parameterised as in Brown & Gilligan (2014) where the Zone 3 population shows strong compensatory recruitment ( $\alpha$ =34.7,  $\beta$ =0.0191).

Outputs from Model 1 of a 1331 ha habitat in the Lachlan River catchment (n= 100 trials). Population viability is reported as years of fishing until eradication for at least 10% (PV0.1) and 100% (PV1.0) of trials. Biomass reduction is the % of unfished biomass removed. Simulated mean fishing yield for the first five fished years. Results for a range of F values including F=0.03 representing estimated historic management efforts, F=0.3 a ten-fold increase in fishing mortality and F $\geq$ 1.2 that led to eradication within the simulation.

Population viability at varying Fishing levels	F=0.03	F=0.3	F=0.5	F=1.2	F=1.6	F=1.8	F=2.0
PV0.1 (years)	-	-	-	98	32	24	19
PV1.0 (years)	-	-	-	103	33	25	20
Biomass reduced by (% unfished biomass)	10%	49%	61%	100%	100%	100%	100%
Mean fishing yield (kg/ha)							
First year fished	10	65	81	72	56	48	41
Second year fished	10	55	61	40	30	24	20
Third year fished	9	47	49	28	18	13	10
Fourth year fished	9	44	47	21	10	6	4
Fifth year fished	9	44	49	17	6	3	2
Total harvest during first 5-years (tonnes)	62	337	376	234	159	125	101

Table 6. Population viability, biomass reduction and fishing yield in a simple, closed carp population parameterised as in Brown & Gilligan (2014) where the Zone 3 population shows weaker compensatory recruitment ( $\alpha$ =4.1,  $\beta$ =0.0162).

Outputs from Model 1 of a 1331 ha habitat in the Lachlan River catchment (n= 100 trials). Population viability is reported as years of fishing until eradication for at least 10% (PV0.1) and 100% (PV1.0) of trials. Biomass reduction is the % of unfished biomass removed. Simulated mean fishing yield for the first five fished years. Results for a range of F values including F=0.03 representing estimated historic management efforts, F=0.3 a ten-fold increase in fishing mortality and F $\geq$ 0.5 that led to eradication within the simulation.

Population viability at varying Fishing levels	F=0.03	F=0.3	F=0.5	F=1.2	F=1.6	F=1.8	F=2.0
PV0.1 (years)	-	-	112	18	13	11	10
PV1.0 (years)	-	-	135	20	14	12	11
Biomass reduced by (% unfished biomass)	16%	82%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
Mean fishing yield (kg/ha)							
First year fished	7	48	59	52	41	36	30
Second year fished	7	39	42	22	12	9	7
Third year fished	7	31	29	9	4	3	2
Fourth year fished	7	26	21	4	1	1	0.4
Fifth year fished	7	22	16	2	0.4	0.2	0.1
Total harvest during first 5-years (tonnes)	45	217	218	117	76	64	52

Table 7. Population viability, biomass reduction and fishing yield in a spatially complex metapopulation of six zones, with the carp population parameterised as in Brown & Gilligan (2014) with uniform fishing mortality (F) applied to each zone plus effect of refuge from fishing. Outputs from Model 2 of a total of 26,666 ha of habitat in the Lachlan River catchment (n= 100 trials). Population viability is reported as years of fishing until eradication for at least 10% (PV0.1) and 100% (PV1.0) of trials. Biomass reduction is the % of unfished biomass removed. Simulated mean fishing yield (kg ha-1) for the first five fished years. Results for F values, F=1.2 and F=2.0 representing minimum and maximum value trialled at which eradication achieved for model 1 (Error! Reference source not found. &



Figure 1 Fishing yield (left), population viability and biomass reduction (right) in a simple, closed carp population parameterised as in Brown & Gilligan (2014) where the Zone 3 population shows strong compensatory recruitment ( $\alpha$ =34.7,  $\beta$ =0.0191).

Outputs from Model 1 of a 1331 ha habitat in the Lachlan River catchment (n= 100 trials). Population viability (right) is reported as years of fishing until eradication for at least 10% (PV0.1) and 100% (PV1.0) of trials. Biomass reduction is the % of unfished biomass removed. Simulated mean fishing yield for the first five fished years (left). Results for a range of F values including F=0.03 representing estimated historic management efforts, F=0.3 a ten-fold increase in fishing mortality and example values of F≥1.2 that led to eradication within the simulation. (See appendix 2. Table 5 for data table).

Population viability at varying Fishing levels	F=1.2	F=2.0	F=2.0+refuge
PV0.1 (years)	-	27	-
PV1.0 (years)	-	28	-
Biomass reduced by (% unfished biomass)	99%	100%	72%
Mean fishing yield (kg/ha)			
First year fished	33.0	33.1	31.9
Second year fished	10.8	10.8	9.4
Third year fished	5.6	5.7	5.3
Fourth year fished	2.5	2.5	2.6
Fifth year fished	1.1	1.1	1.2
Total harvest during first 5-years (tonnes)	1413	1420	1026

#### ) and F=2.0+refuge with a single zone (e.g. zone 6), where F=0.

### **Appendix 3: References**

- Allen M, Ahrens R, Hansen M, Arlinghaus R (2013) Dynamic angling effort influences the value of minimum-length limits to prevent recruitment overfishing. Fisheries Management and Ecology 20, 247-257.
- Anon (2000) National Management Strategy for Carp Control 2000-2005 Carp Control Coordinating Group - Murray Darling Basin Commission, Canberra.
- Atchison J, Gibbs L, Taylor E (2017) Killing Carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) as a Volunteer Practice: implications for community involvement in invasive species management and policy. Australian Geographer 48, 333-348.
- Bajer P, Sorensen P (2010) Recruitment and abundance of an invasive fish, the common carp, is driven by its propensity to invade and reproduce in basins that experience winter-time hypoxia in interconnected lakes. Biological Invasions 12, 1101-1112.
- Bajer P, Sullivan G, Sorensen P (2009) Effects of a rapidly increasing population of common carp on vegetative cover and waterfowl in a recently restored Midwestern shallow lake. Hydrobiologia 632, 235-245.
- Bajer PG, Chizinski CJ, Sorensen PW (2011) Using the Judas technique to locate and remove wintertime aggregations of invasive common carp. Fisheries Management and Ecology 18, 497-505.
- Bajer PG, Sorensen PW (2012) Using Boat Electrofishing to Estimate the Abundance of Invasive Common Carp in Small Midwestern Lakes. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 32, 817-822.
- Barnes MA, Deines AM, Gentile RM, Grieneisen R (2014) Adapting to invasions in a changing world: invasive species as an economic resource. Invasive species and global climate change CAB International. pp. 326-344.
- Bergstrom DM, Lucieer A, Kiefer K, Wasley J, Belbin L, Pedersen TK, Chown SL (2009) Indirect effects of invasive species removal devastate World Heritage Island. Journal of Applied Ecology 46, 73-81.
- Bomford M, Tilzey R (1996) Pest management principles for European carp. In: Roberts J, Tilzey R (eds.) Controlling carp. Exploring the options for Australia CSIRO Land and Water, Griffith. pp. 9–20.
- Britton JR, Davies GD, Brazier M (2010) Towards the successful control of the invasive *Pseudorasbora parva* in the UK. Biological Invasions 12, 125-131.
- Brown P (2010) Sustainability of recreational fisheries for Murray cod: Creel Surveys on the Murray Goulburn, Ovens and Loddon rivers 2006–2008. Fisheries Revenue Allocation Committee. Recreational Fishing Grant Program – Research report Department of Primary Industries Victoria.

- Brown P, Gilligan D (2014) Optimising an integrated pest-management strategy for a spatially structured population of common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) using meta-population modelling. Marine and Freshwater Research 65, 538-550.
- Brown P, Sivakumaran KP, Stoessel D, Giles A (2005) Population biology of carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) in the mid-Murray river and Barmah Forest Wetlands, Australia. Marine and Freshwater Research 56, 1151-1164.
- Brown P, Walker TI (2004) CARPSIM: stochastic simulation modelling of wild carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) population dynamics, with applications to pest control. Ecological Modelling 176, 83-97.
- Carl, D.D., Weber, M.J., Brown, M.L. (2016) An evaluation of attractants to increase catch rates and deplete age-0 common carp in shallow South Dakota Lakes. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 36 (3), 506-513
- Chapman JK, Anderson LG, Gough CL, Harris AR (2016) Working up an appetite for lionfish: a marketbased approach to manage the invasion of *Pterois volitans* in Belize. Marine Policy 73, 256-262.
- Colvin ME, Pierce CL, Stewart TW, Grummer SE (2012) Strategies to Control a Common Carp Population by Pulsed Commercial Harvest. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 32, 1251-1264.
- Conallin AJ, Smith BB, Thwaites LA, Walker KF, Gillanders BM (2012) Environmental Water Allocations in regulated lowland rivers may encourage offstream movements and spawning by common carp, *Cyprinus carpio*: implications for wetland rehabilitation. Marine and Freshwater Research 63, 865-877.
- Crook DA, Macdonald JI, McNeil DG, Gilligan DM, Asmus M, Maas R, Woodhead J (2013) Recruitment sources and dispersal of an invasive fish in a large river system as revealed by otolith chemistry analysis. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 70, 953-963.
- Daskalov GM, Grishin AN, Rodionov S, Mihneva V (2007) Trophic cascades triggered by overfishing reveal possible mechanisms of ecosystem regime shifts. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104, 10518-10523.
- Diggle J, Bax N, Day J (2004) Eradicating European carp from Tasmania and implications for national European carp eradication Inland Fisheries Service Moonah Tasmania, Australia.
- Donkers P (2004) Age, Growth and Maturity of European Carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) in Lakes Sorell and Crescent. Technical Report.
- Donkers P, Patil JG, Wisniewski C, Diggle JE (2012) Validation of mark-recapture population estimates for invasive common carp, *Cyprinus carpio*, in Lake Crescent, Tasmania. Journal of Applied Ichthyology 28, 7-14.
- Downey H (2017) Can Markets Handle Invasive Species? Foundation for Economic Education. Available from: https://fee.org/articles/can-markets-handle-invasive-species/. Accessed:
- Evangelista C, Britton RJ, Cucherousset J (2015) Impacts of invasive fish removal through angling on population characteristics and juvenile growth rate. Ecology and Evolution 5, 2193-2202.

- Forsyth DM, Koehn JD, MacKenzie DI, Stuart IG (2013) Population dynamics of invading freshwater fish: common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) in the Murray-Darling Basin, Australia. Biological Invasions 15, 341-354.
- FRDC (2017) Australian Seafood Trade and Market Access. Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Available from: http://www.frdc.com.au/Services/Trade-data/Seafood-Importand-Export-by-Species. Accessed: 21 November 2017
- Gaeta JW, Hrabik TR, Sass GG, Roth BM, Gilbert SJ, Vander Zanden MJ (2015) A whole-lake experiment to control invasive rainbow smelt (Actinoperygii, Osmeridae) via overharvest and a food web manipulation. Hydrobiologia 746, 433-444.
- GHD (2011) Lachlan Catchment Management Authority Feasibility of commercial carp harvesting in the Lachlan River Final Report. 57 p.
- Gherardi F, Angiolini C (2009) Eradication and control of invasive species. Biodiversity Conservation and Habitat Management-Volume II 2, 271.
- Gibson-Reinemer DK, Chick JH, VanMiddlesworth TD, VanMiddlesworth M, Casper AF (2017) Widespread and enduring demographic collapse of invasive common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) in the Upper Mississippi River System. Biological Invasions 19, 1905-1916.
- Giddens J, Friedlander AM, Conklin E, Wiggins C, Stamoulis K, Donovan MK (2014) Experimental removal of the invasive peacock hind (roi) *Cephalopholis argus*, in Puako, Hawai'i: methods for assessing and managing marine invasive species. Marine Ecology Progress Series 511, 209-221.
- Gilligan D, Jess L, McLean G, Asmus M, Wooden I, Hartwell D, McGregor C, Stuart I, Vey A, Jeffries M, Lewis B, Bell K (2010) Identifying and implementing targeted carp control options for the Lower Lachlan Catchment. Industry & Investment NSW. Fisheries Final Report Series No. 118, Cronulla. 126 p.
- GISD (2017) Global Invasive Species Database. Available from: http://www.iucngisd.org/gisd/search.php. Accessed: 15-11-2017
- Gosling LM, Baker SJ (1989) The eradication of muskrats and coypus from Britain. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 38, 39-51.
- Graham KJ, Lowry MB, Walford TR (2005) Carp in NSW: Assessment of distribution, fishery and fishing methods. NSW Department of Primary Industries –Fisheries Final Report Series, Cronulla Fisheries Research Centre of Excellence, PO Box 21, NSW, 2230. 88 p.
- Green SJ, Dulvy NK, Brooks AML, Akins JL, Cooper AB, Miller S, xf, xe, M. I (2014) Linking removal targets to the ecological effects of invaders: a predictive model and field test. Ecological Applications 24, 1311-1322.
- Haddon M (2001) Modelling and Quantitative Methods in Fisheries Chapman & Hall, Boca Raton, Florida.
- Hare JA, Whitfield PE (2003) An integrated assessment of the introduction of lionfish (Pterois volitans/miles complex) to the western Atlantic Ocean. NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS NCCOS 2, 1-21.

- Hilborn R, Walters C (1992) Quantitative Fisheries Stock Assessment: Choice, Dynamics and Uncertainty Chapman & Hall, London.
- Hoag H (2014) BOUNTY HUNTERS. Nature 513, 294.
- Hobday A, Smith A, Stobutzki I, Bulman C, Daley R, Dambacher J, Deng R, Dowdney J, Fuller M, Furlani D (2011) Ecological risk assessment for the effects of fishing. Fisheries Research 108, 372-384.
- Inland Fisheries Service (2016) Carp Management Program Annual Report 2015–16. Inland Fisheries Service. New Norfolk, Tasmania. 44 p.
- Johnsen PB, Hasler AD (1977) WINTER AGGREGATIONS OF CARP (CYPRINUS CARPIO) AS REVEALED BY ULTRASONIC TRACKING. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 106, 556-559.
- Jones MJ, Stuart IG (2009) Lateral movement of common carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) in a large lowland river and floodplain. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 18, 72-82.
- Kailola P, Williams D, Stewart P, Reichelt R, McNee A, Grieve C (1993) Australian Fisheries Resources Bureau of Resource Sciences and the Fisheries Research and development Corporation, Canberra, Australia.
- Khan TA (2003) Dietary studies on exotic carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) from two lakes of western Victoria, Australia. Aquat.sci 65, 272-286.
- Koehn J, Brumley A, Gehrke P (2000) Managing the Impacts of Carp Bureau of Rural Sciences, Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry - Australia, Canberra.
- Kuebbing SE, Galperin JU, Nunez MA (2013) Jackson Landers: Eating aliens. One man's adventures hunting invasive animal species. Springer.
- Lapointe NW, Cooke SJ, Imhof JG, Boisclair D, Casselman JM, Curry RA, Langer OE, McLaughlin RL, Minns CK, Post JR (2013) Principles for ensuring healthy and productive freshwater ecosystems that support sustainable fisheries. Environmental Reviews 22, 110-134.
- Lechelt JD, Bajer PG (2016) Modeling the potential for managing invasive common carp in temperate lakes by targeting their winter aggregations. Biological Invasions 18, 831-839.
- Lighten J, van Oosterhout C (2017) Biocontrol of common carp in Australia poses risks to biosecurity. Nature Ecology & Evolution 1, 0087.
- Lorenzen K (1996) A simple von Bertalanffy model for density-dependent growth in extensive aquaculture with an application to common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*). Aquaculture 142, 191–205.
- Lubinski KS, Van Vooren A, Janecek J, Jackson SD (1986) Common carp in the Upper Mississippi River. Hydrobiologia 136, 141–154.
- Mattingly RL, Kevern NR (1979) Life history, abundance, and potential harvest of carp (*Cyprinus carpio* Linnaeus) from Michigan waters of the Great Lakes Michigan Sea Grant Program.
- McColl K, Sunarto A, Slater J, Bell K, Asmus M, Fulton W, Hall K, Brown P, Gilligan D, Hoad J (2017) Cyprinid herpesvirus 3 as a potential biological control agent for carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) in Australia: susceptibility of non-target species. Journal of Fish Diseases 40, 1141-1153.

- McLeod R (2004) Counting the Cost: Impact of Invasive Animals in Australia 2004. Cooperative Research Centre for Pest Animal Control. Canberra. 82 p.
- Meronek TG, Bouchard PM, Buckner ER, Burri TM, Demmerly KK, Hatleli DC, Klumb RA, Schmidt SH, Coble DW (1996) A review of fish control projects. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 16, 63-74.
- Morris, J.A., Jr., and P.E. Whitfield. 2009. Biology, Ecology, Control and Management of the Invasive Indo-Pacific Lionfish: An Updated Integrated Assessment. NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS NCCOS 99. 57 pp.
- Norris A, Chilcott K, Hutchison M (2013) The role of fishing competitions in pest fish management. . Invasive Animals Cooperative Research Centre. PestSmart Toolkit publication Canberra, Australia.
- Nuñez MA, Kuebbing S, Dimarco RD, Simberloff D (2012) Invasive species: to eat or not to eat, that is the question. Conservation Letters 5, 334-341.
- Parkos JI, Santucci V, Wahl D (2003) Effects of adult common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) on multiple trophic levels in shallow mesocosms. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 60, 182-192.
- Parks and Wildlife Service (2014) Evaluation Report: Macquarie Island Pest Eradication Project. Hobart, Tasmania.
- Pasko S, Goldberg J, MacNeil C, Campbell M (2014) Review of harvest incentives to control invasive species. Management of Biological Invasions 5, 263-277.
- Patrick WS, Spencer P, Link J, Cope J, Field J, Kobayashi D, Lawson P, Gedamke T, Cortes E, Ormseth O (2010) Using productivity and susceptibility indices to assess the vulnerability of United States fish stocks to overfishing. Fishery Bulletin 108, 305-322.
- Paukert CP, Stancill W, DeBates TJ, Willis DW (2003) Predatory effects of northern pike and largemouth bass: bioenergetic modeling and ten years of fish community sampling. Journal of Freshwater Ecology 18, 13-24.
- Pauly D (1983) Some simple methods for the assessment of tropical fish stocks. FAO Fisheries Technical Paper 234, 51.
- Pauly D, Christensen V, Guenette S, Pitcher TJ, Sumaila UR, Walters CJ (2002) Towards Sustainability in World Fisheries. Nature 418, 689–695.
- Petty E (2016) Out of the water and onto our plates: combating Asian carp invasion with cutlery.
- Phelps QE, Graeb BDS, Willis DW (2008) Influence of the Moran Effect on Spatiotemporal Synchrony in Common Carp Recruitment. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 137, 1701-1708.
- Post JR, Sullivan M, Cox S, Lester NP, Walters CJ, Parkinson EA, Paul AJ, Jackson L, Shuter BJ (2002) Canada's Recreational Fisheries: The Invisible Collapse? Fisheries 27, 6-17.
- Randall JE (1987) Introductions of marine fishes to the Hawaiian Islands. Bulletin of Marine Science 41, 490-502.

- Roberts J, Tilzey R (1996) Controlling carp. Exploring the options for Australia, Proceedings of a workshop 22-24 October 1996 Albury edn. CSIRO Land and Water, Griffith.
- Savage J (2015) Australian fisheries and aquaculture statistics 2015. Fisheries Research and Development Corporation project 2016-246. ABARES. Canberra. 160 p.
- Sehgal HS, Toor HS (1995) Effect of stocking density on ovarian maturation, offspring fitness and growth of common carp. Aquaculture 129, 113-117.
- Silberschneider V, Gray CA, Stewart J (2009) Age, growth, maturity and the overfishing of the iconic sciaenid, *Argyrosomus japonicus*, in south-eastern, Australia. Fisheries Research 95, 220-229.
- Simpson W, Peterson D, Steinke K, Beck L (2017) Efficacy of using electrofishing to reduce recruitment of invasive Common Carp in Malheur Lake, a large endorheic marsh. Final Report. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 35 p.
- Sivakumaran KP, Brown P, Stoessel D, Giles A (2003) Maturation and reproductive biology of female wild carp, *Cyprinus carpio*, in Victoria, Australia. Environmental biology of fishes 68, 321-332.
- Smith NS, Green SJ, Akins JL, Miller S, Côté IM (2017) Density-dependent colonization and natural disturbance limit the effectiveness of invasive lionfish culling efforts. Biological Invasions, 1-15.

Snyder M (2017) Can we really eat invasive species into submission? Scientific American, 8.

- Stuart I, Conallin A (2009) The Williams' Carp Separation Cage: New Innovations and a Commercial Trial. In: The Murray Darling Fish Forum 2009. 1–2 September 2009 (ed. Pritchard J), pp. 118– 122. Murray-Darling Basin Authority, Albury Entertainment Centre.
- Stuart IG, Williams A, McKenzie J, Holt T (2006) Managing a Migratory Pest Species: A Selective Trap for Common Carp. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 26, 888-893.
- The Nature Conservancy (2016) Assessing the Long-term Effects of Experimental Removal of Roi (*Cephalopholis argus*), and Introduced Species, from Hawai'i Coral Reefs. FINAL REPORT TO THE NATIONAL OCEANIC AND ATMOSPHERIC ADMINISTRATION CORAL REEF CONSERVATION PROGRAM #NA13NOS4820028. 87 p.
- Thresher RE (1997) Physical removal as an option for the control of feral carp populations. In: Roberts J, Tilzey R (eds.) Controlling carp exploring the options for Australia CSIRO, Albury. pp. 58-73.
- Thwaites LA, Smith BB, Decelis M, Fleer D, Conallin A (2010) A novel push trap element to manage carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.): a laboratory trial. Marine and Freshwater Research 61, 42-48.
- Vilizzi L (1998) Age, growth and cohort composition of 0+ carp in the River Murray, Australia. Journal of Fish Biology 52, 997-1013.
- Vilizzi L, Tarkan A, Copp G (2015) Experimental evidence from causal criteria analysis for the effects of common carp *Cyprinus carpio* on freshwater ecosystems: a global perspective. Reviews in Fisheries Science & Aquaculture 23, 253-290.
- Vilizzi L, Walker K (1998) Age profile of carp (Cyprinus carpio L.) in Lake Crescent, Tasmania 132, 1-8.
- Vilizzi L, Walker KF (1999) Age and growth of thje common carp, *Cyprinus carpio*, in the River Murray, Australia: validation, consistency of age interpretation, and growth models. Environmental biology of fishes 54, 77-106.

- Walker TI (2005) Management measures. In: Musick JA, Bonfil R (eds.) Management techniques for elasmobranch fisheries. FAO Fisheries Technical Paper 474 Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Rome, . pp. 216-242.
- Weber MJ, Brown ML (2012) Maternal effects of common carp on egg quantity and quality. Journal of Freshwater Ecology 27, 409-417.
- Weber MJ, Brown ML (2013) Density-Dependence and Environmental Conditions Regulate Recruitment and First-Year Growth of Common Carp in Shallow Lakes. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 142, 471-482.
- Weber MJ, Hennen MJ, Brown ML (2011) Simulated Population Responses of Common Carp to Commercial Exploitation. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 31, 269-279.
- Weber MJ, Hennen MJ, Brown ML, Lucchesi DO, Sauver TRS (2016) Compensatory response of invasive common carp *Cyprinus carpio* to harvest. Fisheries Research 179, 168-178.
- Weidel BC, Josephson DC, Kraft CE (2007) Littoral fish community response to smallmouth bass removal from an Adirondack lake. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 136, 778-789.
- Winker H, Weyl OLF, Booth AJ, Ellender BR (2011) Life history and population dynamics of invasive common carp, *Cyprinus carpio*, within a large turbid African impoundment. Marine and Freshwater Research 62, 1270-1280.
- Wisniewski C (2009) An integrated approach to eradicating carp in Tasmania. American Fisheries Society Annual Meeting.
- Zipkin EF, Kraft CE, Cooch EG, Sullivan PJ (2009) When can efforts to control nuisance and invasive species backfire? Ecological Applications 19, 1585-1595.
- Zipkin EF, Sullivan PJ, Cooch EG, Kraft CE, Shuter BJ, Weidel BC (2008) Overcompensatory response of a smallmouth bass (*Micropterus dolomieu*) population to harvest: release from competition? Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 65, 2279-2292.

### FRDC FINAL REPORT CHECKLIST

Project Title:	Review of Carp control via commercial exploitation			
Principal Investigators:	Paul Brown, Chris Wisniewski and Dean Gilligan			
Project Number:	2017/094			
Description:	Brief one/two paragraph overview of what the project did and achieved.			
Published Date:	03/07/2019	Year:	2019	
ISBN:	n/a	ISSN:	n/a	
Key Words:	Common carp, <i>Cyprinus carpio</i> , simulation model, CarpSim, Australia, commercial fishing, invasive, overfishing, population management			

Please use this checklist to self-assess your report before submitting to FRDC. Checklist should accompany the report.

	Is it included (Y/N)	Comments
Foreword (optional)	N	Could be supplied by NCCP?
Acknowledgments	Υ	
Abbreviations	N	Explained in text where used
Executive Summary		
<ul> <li>What the report is about</li> </ul>	Y	
<ul> <li>Background – why project was undertaken</li> </ul>	Y	
<ul> <li>Aims/objectives – what you wanted to achieve at the beginning</li> </ul>	Y	
<ul> <li>Methodology – outline how you did the project</li> </ul>	Y	
<ul> <li>Results/key findings – this should outline what you found or key results</li> </ul>	Y	
<ul> <li>Implications for relevant stakeholders</li> </ul>	Υ	
<ul> <li>Recommendations</li> </ul>	Y	
Introduction	Y	
Objectives	Υ	
Methodology	Υ	
Results	Y	
Discussion	Y	
Conclusion	Y	
Implications	Y	Extracted from original discussion
Recommendations	Υ	Extracted from original discussion
Further development	N	Dependant upon direction of NCCP
Extension and Adoption	Y	
Project coverage	Y	
Glossary	N	Terms explained within text

Project materials developed	Ν	None other than that detailed in Extension and Adoption section
Appendices	Y	External reviewer recommended turning Tables into Figures for increased clarity – whilst this has been adopted the original data tables are now included as an appendix to enable the detailed model outputs to be fully understood bu those interested to do so. Also listed researchers and full attributions Also listed references cited.



NATIONAL CARP CONTROL PLAN

The National Carp Control Plan is managed by the Fisheries Research and Development Corporation

Tel: 02 6285 0400 Post: Locked Bag 222, Deakin West ACT 2600

